### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Case No. SC00-1322

### RANDOLPH HANSBROUGH,

Petitioner,

v.

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

On Appeal from the District Court of Appeal of the State of Florida, Fourth District DCA-4 No. 99-00169

### PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS

LAW OFFICES OF ROBERT ADER

Counsel for Petitioner

NationsBank Tower, Suite 3550

100 S.E. 2nd Street Miami, Florida 33131

(305) 371-6060 / Fax (305) 358-5917

Robert A. Ader

Fla. Bar No. 335126 Elizabeth B. Hitt Fla. Bar No. 0176850

### **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

## **INTRODUCTION**

The Petitioner herein, Dr. Randolph Hansbrough, was the Defendant at the trial level and the Appellant in the action on appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeals. The Respondent, State of Florida, was the prosecution at the trial level and the Appellee in the action on appeal. The parties will be referred to by proper name or by their designation. The record on appeal will be referred to as "R-1," etc., and references to a hearing held on December 2, 1996, will be cited as "TR-1," etc. The opinion of Fourth District Court, in the action directly below, will be noted by proper case citation.

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

Whether the Circuit Court and the District Court below erred as a matter of law in declining to declare §817.234(8) unconstitutional on its face or as applied to Petitioner Randolph Hansbrough.

### **I STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS**

Petitioner, Dr. Randolph Hansbrough, a chiropractor licensed in Florida, was charged, along with twelve other chiropractors throughout the State, with Unlawful Insurance Solicitation in violation of §817.234(8), Fla. Stat. (R-57). Dr. Hansbrough's charge stems from his relationship with a chiropractic consulting company and the events surrounding a patient's referral (R-33-34).

Prebeck Consultants, Inc. ("Prebeck"), a Florida Corporation, was a consulting business established to aid chiropractors with regard to improvement of their practices, from patient procedures, to accounting and advertising (R-33). Prebeck additionally maintained a doctor referral network to advise prospective patients of the participating doctor nearest their home or office (R-33). Dr. Hansbrough was a participating doctor listed with Prebeck.

The Prebeck Company routinely obtained names of individuals from motor vehicle accident reports (items of public record) and subsequently telephoned the individuals, offering to schedule free chiropractic consultations and examinations to determine whether they received any possible injuries from their accidents (R-61). After acquiring William Ponsoldt's name from an accident report, Prebeck contacted Mr. Ponsoldt, offering to schedule a free consultation and examination with Dr. Hansbrough for the purpose of determining whether he was injured and whether treatment was necessary and/or desired for any accident-related injuries (R-61).

Mr. Ponsoldt appeared for his initial consultation and thereafter began treatment with Dr.

Hansbrough (R-33). The patient's PIP insurance carrier was ultimately billed, and the insurance carrier paid these bills without dispute (TR-36). Thereafter, Dr. Hansbrough was charged with the unlawful solicitation of a patient for the purpose of making a motor vehicle tort claim or a claim for personal injury protection benefits. At no time have allegations been made that Dr. Hansbrough submitted any fraudulent claims (R-70). It is undisputed that Dr. Hansbrough never acted with any fraudulent intent (R-195-96). The wrongful solicitation alleged was the phone call made by Prebeck to Mr. Ponsoldt asking if he would like to schedule a free chiropractic consultation (TR-59).

Prosecution commenced and, after the trial court denied two motions to dismiss and a sworn motion, Dr. Hansbrough entered into a negotiated plea with the State wherein Dr. Hansbrough pled no contest to the reduced charge of conspiracy to solicit, a first-degree misdemeanor. Dr. Hansbrough was placed on a one-year period of probation and paid approximately Seven Thousand Dollars (\$7,000) in fines and costs of prosecution. In the plea negotiation, Dr. Hansbrough specifically reserved his right to appeal the denial of all filed motions to dismiss based on the unconstitutionality of Florida Statute §817.234(8) (R-212-13). The plea agreement was entered into on December 15, 1998, and appeal to the Fourth District ensued in accordance with the terms of the agreement.

The Fourth District Court of Appeals subsequently rejected the Appellant's argument that the statute at issue was an unconstitutional restriction on Dr. Hansbrough's first amendment right to commercial free speech, and upheld the statute both on its face, and as applied to the facts before it. However, the Fourth District Court certified for this Court's decision the following as questions of great public importance:

WHETHER SECTION 817.234(8), FLORIDA STATUTES, INCLUDES A REQUIREMENT OF SPECIFIC INTENT TO DEFRAUD THE INSURER.

and, if not

WHETHER THE STATUTE ADVANCES THE GOVERNMENTAL INTEREST IN PREVENTING INSURANCE FRAUD AND IS NOT MORE EXTENSIVE THAN IS NECESSARY TO SERVE THAT INTEREST.

Petitioner argues that Section 817.234(8) does include an element of intent to defraud, without which the statute fails to advance the government's interest in preventing fraud, and remains unconstitutionally overbroad.

### II

**SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT** 

In order to justify a restriction on truthful, nonmisleading commercial speech, the State has the burden of establishing that it not only has substantial interests at stake, but that the means it employs directly and materially advance its asserted interest, a contention that requires evidentiary support. The State must also show that, in light of less burdensome alternatives, the restriction on commercial speech is narrowly tailored, limited in scope and proportionate to the state interest to be served.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Prior to any involvement with Dr. Hansbrough, Mr. Ponsoldt had made application for personal injury protection ("PIP") benefits for his ambulance ride and hospital emergency room visit (R-197).

While the precise wording of Florida Statute §817.234(8) makes it a felony to solicit "for the purposes of making . . . claims for personal injury protection benefits," the purpose is not to prevent the filing of meritorious PIP claims, but solely the prevention of fraudulent claims, as evidenced by legislative history. Interpreting the statute in accordance with the framers' intent furthers legislative purpose while allowing §817.234(8) to survive constitutional scrutiny. To that end, §817.234(8) should allow the solicitation of prospective patients and the subsequent filing of legitimate PIP claims, *so long as* the solicitation is not made with the *intent to defraud* the insurer.

In the case at bar, the State overlooked legislative intent, utilized a more literal reading of the statute, and criminally charged Petitioner Hansbrough with unlawful solicitation merely because the solicitation resulted in the filing of a PIP claim. There was absolutely no evidence of intent to defraud, nor was there any assertion that the treatment sought to be covered was not medically necessary.

Criminalizing solicitation as felonious merely because a legitimate PIP claim follows, without requiring that there be fraudulent intent on the solicitor's part, does not materially advance the State's goal of preventing insurance fraud. The goal is certainly not advanced through the application of an anti-fraud statute to one who was never charged with fraud, nor purported to have any fraudulent intent. Sacrificing such innocents may, arguably, work to lower insurance claims across the board, but to the detriment of forthright claimants and solicitors. In order to justify the imposition of criminal sanctions, there must be an undeniable premise that solicitors of motor vehicle accident victims invariably act with fraudulent intent. The State has not and cannot prove such a preposterous and presumptive argument.

Innocent speech cannot be sacrificed by utilizing a statute that is neither narrowly tailored nor proportionate to the asserted goal of preventing fraudulent insurance claims, particularly in the light of less burdensome alternative devices. Because the statute was enacted to target only those who solicit with the intent to defraud the insurer, criminalizing innocuous solicitation works to create and punish mere victims of statutory fallout. As applied by the State in an overreaching manner, §817.234(8) hinders the filing of legitimate claims, ultimately harming, instead of aiding, the general public.

The Judicial Branch retains the power of judicial review over legislative acts and holds a duty to construe an otherwise unconstitutional statute in accordance with constitutional guarantees. To that end, courts are required to resort to the rules of statutory construction in order to save the statute from constitutional attack. Where a *malum prohibitum* statute entrenches on first amendment freedoms or subjects individuals to severe penalties for statutory infractions, an element of intent must be impliedly included, or the statute must be deemed unconstitutional. As our Legislature enacted §817.234(8) with the purpose of preventing insurance fraud, the statute impliedly requires that violators act with the intent to defraud. It is only by requiring the state to allege and prove a violator's intent to defraud, that the statute can survive constitutional challenge.

# III ARGUMENT A

ABSENT A REQUIRED ELEMENT OF INTENT TO DEFRAUD, §817.234(8) IMPERMISSIBLY ABRIDGES THE RIGHT OF COMMERCIAL FREE SPEECH AS GUARANTEED BY THE FIRST AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE U.S. CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 2 & 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION

Solicitation has long been recognized as a valuable form of communication and product dissemination between a seller and a buyer, enabling a seller to educate a prospective market on his product or service. Moreover, solicitation provides the means in which a seller can direct his product or services toward those consumers whom he has reason to believe would be most interested in what he has to offer. As such, solicitation "is a recognized form of speech protected by the First Amendment." United States v, Kokinda, 110 S.Ct. 3115, 3118 (1990).

In the case at bar, the State of Florida seeks to enforce a statutory ban on chiropractic solicitation of motor vehicle accident victims where the solicitation leads to the filing of personal injury benefit insurance claims. In effect, the statutory ban makes it a criminal act for chiropractors to publicly or privately provide medical information to those persons whom they feel would be most interested in their services.

Since 1979 Florida Statute §817.234(8) has remained unchallenged and unenforced, providing in pertinent part:

It is unlawful for any person, in his individual capacity or in his capacity as a public or private employee, or for any firm, corporation, partnership, or association, to solicit any business . . . in any public institution; in any public place; upon any public street or highway. . . or upon private property of any character whatsoever for the purpose of making motor vehicle tort claims or claims for personal injury protection benefits required by s. 627.736.

§817.234(8), Fla. Stat. (1995) (emphasis added). Any person who violates the above provisions commits a felony of the third degree, <u>id</u>., thereby subjecting persons to criminal sanctions for commercial speech activities.

First Amendment protections are afforded commercial speech to the extent that courts shall engage in intermediate scrutiny to determine if a restriction on commercial speech is constitutionally prohibited, by employing the <u>Central Hudson</u> analysis below.<sup>2</sup> <u>Florida Bar v.</u> Went For It, Inc., 115 S.Ct. 2371, 2375-76 (1995).

As a preliminary matter, in order to be constitutionally protected, commercial speech must concern lawful activity and not be misleading. <u>Central Hudson Gas & Elec. Corp. v. Public Com'n of N.Y.</u>, 100 S.Ct. 2343, 2350 (1980). Once commercial speech is found to be neither misleading nor unlawful, the government may *only* restrict the speech *provided* the regulation at issue satisfies three criteria: (1) the government's interest at the base of the restriction must be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> While Petitioner argues the <u>Central Hudson</u> analysis, it should be noted that the U.S. Supreme Court has, as of late, expressed its discomfort with the <u>Central Hudson</u> test and a possible willingness to abandon the strictures of the test, in favor of a more straightforward test to assess the validity of governmental restrictions on commercial speech. *See*, <u>Greater New Orleans Broadcasting Ass'n, Inc. v. United States</u>, 119 S.Ct. 1923 (1999); <u>44 Liquormart, Inc. v. Rhode Island</u>, 116 S.Ct. 1495 (1996).

substantial; (2) the restriction must directly and materially advance the asserted governmental interest; and (3) the restriction must be narrowly tailored to the governmental interest involved. Id. at 2351.

As any "solicitation" on the part of Dr. Hansbrough was completely lawful, apart from the alleged violation of the subject statute itself, and because such was not misleading, we turn our focus to the three prongs of the <u>Central Hudson</u> test, keeping in mind one caveat:

The four parts of the <u>Central Hudson</u> test are not entirely discrete. All are important and, to a certain extent, interrelated: Each raises a relevant question that may not be dispositive to the First Amendment inquiry, but the answer to which may inform a judgment concerning the other three.

Greater New Orleans Broad. Ass'n, Inc. v. United States, 119 S.Ct. 1923, 1930 (1999).

## Preventing willful and intentional insurance fraud is the substantial governmental interest sought to be protected by §817.234(8).

In the action below, the State asserted the prevention of insurance fraud as a substantial interest served by the restraint on chiropractic solicitation (R-69). While the trial court considered other governmental interests advanced by the State, it properly concluded that the statute was enacted "for the purpose of combating insurance fraud, clearly a substantial governmental interest", and therefore found that the first element of the <u>Central Hudson</u> test had been met (R-85).

Likewise, on appeal, the Fourth District Court found that the prevention of insurance fraud was the substantial government interest at issue. Hansbrough v. State, 757 So.2d 1282, 1283 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). See also Hershkowitz v. State, 744 So.2d 1268, 1269-70 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999) (addressing §817.234(8) and specifically recognizing the state's asserted interest in preventing insurance fraud); Barr v. State, 731 So.2d 126, 129 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) (same). Indeed, §817.234 is entitled "False and Fraudulent Insurance Claims." Further, subsections (1)-(7) state, in essence, the legislature's objective of penalizing any person who, with the intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer, files a false claim or conspires to file a false claim. In order to avoid innocent persons from being swept up in the statutory net, subsection (8) must be read in pari materia so as not to risk being deemed unconstitutional as applied to individuals acting with no fraudulent purpose or intent.

Recognizing that fraudulent intent is at the very core of §817.234(8), the court in <u>Bradford v. State</u>, 740 So.2d 569 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), *rev. granted*, No. SC96910 (Fla. Feb. 25, 2000), found that it is that *intent to defraud* that allows the statute to survive constitutional scrutiny. Specifically, the <u>Bradford</u> Court held, "a chiropractor may solicit any prospective patient even if that chiropractor happens to get paid for his services by the patient's PIP insurance, *as long as he does not solicit with the intent to defraud the insurer*." <u>Id</u>. at 571 (emphasis added). Thus, the operative and limiting language of §817.234(8) appears to be "intent to defraud," *not* merely the intent to file a PIP claim.

But in addressing Dr. Hansbrough's case, the Fourth District retreats from its former logic

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Both Petitioner and the State have previously set forth a lengthy rendition of legislative intent, culminating in the agreed proposition that §817.234(8) was enacted for the purpose of preventing insurance fraud.

in <u>Bradford</u>, discarding the well-reasoned *holding* that §817.234(8) requires an intent to defraud, while adopting its prior opinion in <u>Barr v. State</u>, *supra*, and stating that the statute, as written, facially satisfies the state's interest in preventing fraud. <u>Hansbrough</u>, 757 So.2d at 1283. Yet in simply dismissing, as mere *dicta*,<sup>4</sup> the <u>Bradford</u> analysis, the Court fails to appreciate its own admission that <u>Bradford</u> was written in an effort "to clarify why subsection (8) does not punish innocent activity." <u>Bradford</u>, 740 So.2d at 570. No attempt at reconciliation is made, and no analysis offered.<sup>5</sup> Additionally, and quite surprisingly, the Court did not recede from the Bradford language it now deems *dicta*.

The Fourth District's ruling abruptly let stand a conviction of an altogether innocent individual merely exercising his free speech rights. As was recognized by the District Court below, the State has neither alleged nor shown that Dr. Hansbrough acted with the specific purpose of filing a PIP claim, that the claim filed was fraudulent, or, much less, that the solicitation was made with any fraudulent intent. <u>Hansbrough</u>, 757 So.2d at 1282-83. As the State concedes, "there is no allegation that the Defendant Randolph Hansbrough was involved in fraud" (R-70). In fact, there was *never* any criminal mind on the part of Dr. Hansbrough (R-195-96).<sup>6</sup>

By disregarding the mental state legislatively required by \$817.234(8), the State, in effect, makes it a strict liability offense for chiropractors to solicit prospective patients who later filed insurance claims, even where the solicitation was not made with the intent to defraud the insurer. Requiring only a statutory infraction to effectuate the prescribed criminal penalty serves to discount the full legislative purpose behind \$817.234(8), a statute specifically designed to punish only willful and intentional perpetrators of fraud. Hence, with an overly broad interpretation of the statute, the State and, subsequently, the courts below have acrimoniously allowed an innocent person to get swept up in the plain language of the statutory net and suffer felony charges. Petitioner would agree that the prevention of insurance fraud is certainly a substantial governmental interest, suffice for purposes of meeting the first prong of Central Hudson, and in keeping with the legislative purpose behind \$817.234(8). The problem at hand is thus an issue of statutory interpretation. There appears to be no way to constitutionally harmonize the legislative purpose behind \$817.234(8) with its application to an individual soliciting with absolutely no illicit intent.

### Banning solicitation that leads to the filing of honest PIP claims does not directly or

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petitioner vehemently contends that what the Fourth District now describes as "dicta" is actually the holding in Bradford, and is analytically sound. Bradford's analysis logically led to its conclusion: "a chiropractor may solicit any prospective patient even if that chiropractor happens to get paid for his services by the patient's PIP insurance, as long as he does not solicit with the intent to defraud the insurer."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Petitioner confessed to the District Court his own inability to reconcile the Court's holding in <u>Barr</u> with that of <u>Bradford</u>. The former opinion allows §817.234(8) to target persons who solicit for the sole purpose of making motor vehicle tort or PIP benefit claims, while the latter appears to permit solicitation resulting in the filing of PIP claims, just not solicitation made with the intent to defraud. Petitioner is not the only one unable to reconcile <u>Bradford</u> with <u>Barr</u>. In an opinion handed down shortly after the decision in <u>Bradford</u>, a county court ruled that, based on <u>Bradford</u>, dismissed the Information charging the defendant with solicitation in violation of §817.234(8), as the state had failed to allege intent to defraud. *See* <u>State of Florida v. Nash Cronin</u>, et al., No. 98-13214 (Fla. 4th Cir. Ct., Duval County), Order Granting Defendants' Motion to Dismiss (attached hereto as Exhibit "A").

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> William Ponzoldt stated in sworn affidavit that he never discussed insurance with Dr. Hansbrough, filed his own PIP claim and received beneficial care and treatment for his injuries (R-202-203).

### materially advance the State's interest in preventing willful insurance fraud.

Commercial speech may be restricted only in the service of a substantial governmental interest, and only through means that directly advance that interest. <u>Zaunderer v. Office of Disciplinary Counsel of the Supreme Court of Ohio</u>, 105 S.Ct. 2265, 2275 (1985). The regulation of commercial speech "may extend only as far as the interest it serves" and "may not be sustained if it provides only ineffective or remote support for the government's purpose." <u>Central Hudson</u>, 100 S.Ct. at 2351 & 2343 (respectively).

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