IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC00-1322

RANDOLPH HANSBROUGH,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH

Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

MICHAEL J. NEIMAND

Assistant Attorney General Bureau Chief Florida Bar No. 0239437

FRANK J. INGRASSIA

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0116180 110 SE 6th Street-9th Floor Fort Lauderdale, FL 33301 Telephone: (954)-712-4600 Facsimile: (954)-712-4761

Counsel for Respondent

RANDOLPH HANSBROUGH v. STATE OF FLORIDA

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS
STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES AND SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 6
ARGUMENT
POINT I
INTENT TO DEFRAUD IS NOT AN ELEMENT OF FLORIDA'S ANTI-SOLICITATION STATUTE, §817.234(8) FLA. STAT. (1997)
POINT II
ABSENT THE FRAUD ELEMENT, FLORIDA STATUTE §817.234(8) IS A CONSTITUTIONAL RESTRICTION OF COMMERCIAL SPEECH
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

FEDERAL CASES

Central Hudson Gas & Electric Corp. v. Public Service Comm'n of NY, 447 U.S. 557, 100 S.Ct. 2343, 65 L.Ed.2d 341 (1980) 25,29
<u>Florida Bar v. Went For It, Inc.</u> , 115 S.Ct. 2371 (1995), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u> , 117 S.Ct. 768 (1997)
<u>Sciarrino v. City of Key West, Fla.</u> , 83 F. 3d 364, 369 (11 th Cir. 1996)
STATE CASES
<u>B.H. v. State</u> , 645 So. 2d 987 (Fla. 1994)
Barr v. State, 731 So. 2d 126 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)
<u>Bradford v. State</u> , 740 So. 2d 569 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) 4,7,11,17,25,26,29
<u>Capers v. State</u> , 678 So. 2d 330 (Fla. 1996) 12
<u>Chapman v. Lake</u> , 112 Fla. 746, 151 So. 399 (1933) 12
Department of Health & Rehabilitative Services v. M.B., 701 So. 2d 1155 (Fla. 1997)
<u>Ellis v. State</u> , 622 So. 2d 991 (Fla. 1993)
Federal Insurance Co. v. Southwest Fla. Retirement Ctr. Inc., 707 So. 2d 1119 (Fla. 1998)
Hershkowitz v. State, 24 Fla. Law Weekly D 2706d (Fla. 3rd DCA Dec. 8, 1999)
Florida State Racing Commission v. Bourquardez, 42 So. 2d 87 (Fla. 1949)
Mancini v. Personalized Air Conditioning & Heating, Inc, 702 So. 2d 1376 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) quoting Ross v. Gore, 48 So. 2d 412 (Fla. 1950)
<u>Pardo v. State</u> , 596 So. 2d 665 (Fla. 1992) 13

<u>Perkins v. State</u> , 682 So. 2d 1083 (Fla. 1996)
<u>Smith v. State</u> , 537 So. 2d 982 (Fla. 1989)
<u>State v. Cohen</u> , 696 So. 2d 435 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) 13
<u>State v. Copher</u> , 396 So. 2d 635 (Fla.2nd DCA 1981) 14
<u>State v. Egan</u> , 287 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1973)
<u>State v. Falk</u> , 724 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1998) 11
<u>State v. Hamilton</u> , 660 So. 2d 1038 (Fla. 1995)
<u>State v. Harvey</u> , 693 So. 2d 1009 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997) 12
<u>State v. Hubbard</u> , 24 Fla. L. Weekly S575b (Fla. December 16, 1999)
<u>State v. Marks, P.A.</u> , 698 So. 2d 533 (Fla. 1997) . 11,12,14,16
<u>State v. Summerlot</u> , 711 So. 2d 589 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998) 16
<u>Streeter v. Sullivan</u> , 509 So. 2d 268 (Fla. 1987)
<u>T.R. v. State</u> , 677 So. 2d 270 (Fla. 1996)
STATUTES
§627.7375 Fla. Stat. (1977)
§627.739 Fla. Stat. (1997)
§817.234 Fla. Stat. (1997)
MISCELLANEOUS
Chapter 76-266 Laws of Florida
Chapter 77-468 Laws of Florida
Chapter 78-258 Laws of Florida
Chapter 79-81 Laws of Florida
Chapter 79-400 Laws of Florida

Dade County Grand Jury Report, Fall Term 1974, August 11, 1975.
Robert W. Emerson, <u>Insurance Claims Fraud Problems and Remedies</u> , 46 U. MIAMI L. REV. 907 (1992)
House Bills 2825, 3042, 3043, 3044, 3155
Senate Bill 598
Senate Bill 1181

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court, Appellee before the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to herein as the "State". Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court, Appellant on appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, and will be referred to herein as or "Defendant". Reference to the record on appeal will be by the symbol "R" followed by the appropriate page number. References to appellate documents will be by their title followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

By Amended Information dated January 23, 1997, the State charged Defendant with two counts of unlawful insurance solicitation in violation of Florida Statute §817.234(8) (R 93-95). On September 3, 1996, Defendant filed an unsworn Motion to Dismiss challenging the constitutionality of the subject statute. (R32-44). The State filed a Response to the Motion to Dismiss on or about November 13, 1996. (R57-80). The trial court denied the Motion to Dismiss on December 18, 1996 with the ruling rendered by Circuit Court Judge Zeidwig. (R81-87).

After the filing of the Amended Information, Defendant filed a second Motion to Dismiss, challenging the constitutionality of the subject statute, on or about April 1, 1997. (R157-161). Defendant further submitted his own sworn affidavit in support of the motion, dated October 28, 1997. (R193-201). Defendant's Second Motion to Dismiss also contained affidavits executed by William Ponsoldt and Casey Martin, both of whom Defendant was charged with unlawfully soliciting under the statute. (R202-205). The State filed a Traverse to the Motion to Dismiss on or about October 30, 1997. (R169-171).

For the purpose of the second Motion to Dismiss, the following relevant facts set forth in the State's Traverse are not disputed for this appeal. (R169-171). Glenn and Susan Prebeck owned and operated a company (Prebeck Consulting Co., hereinafter referred to

as Prebeck) that obtained traffic accident reports from local and state law enforcement agencies throughout South Florida, the Tampa Bay area, and the Panhandle of Florida. Prebeck contracted with chiropractors to contact persons named in those accident reports and refer them to these chiropractors. (R169).

The State's Traverse further averred that, according to Susan Prebeck and business records, the chiropractors usually paid the Prebeck corporate entity between \$275.00 and \$300.00 per patient referred. Susan Prebeck stated that the agreement between Prebeck and the chiropractors would be that every person referred would be covered by insurance and symptomatic. (R169-170). The purpose of the referrals was to provide new patients for the chiropractors, who could then bill the patient's or the other covered person's automobile insurance under their Personal Injury Protection (PIP) policy for treatment rendered by the chiropractors. (R170).

On or about February 10, 1994, an employee of Prebeck contacted William Ponsoldt, of Martin County, Florida, in order to solicit Ponsoldt to make an appointment with Defendant at his office for a medical consultation and evaluation. Defendant, whose office was located in Martin County, paid Prebeck a fee to refer Ponsoldt to him. Defendant's business thereafter filed claims with Progressive Insurance Company for PIP benefits in order to be paid for treatment rendered to Ponsoldt. (R170).

Defendant admitted to paying Prebeck for the referral of

patients. (R170). Specifically, Defendant stated that he paid Prebeck a "monthly fee" for Prebeck's consulting and referral services. (R190). Ponsoldt and Martin were accident victims, both of whom were solicited as such and PIP claims were filed on their behalf. (R170). No patients were provided by Prebeck unless the patient had insurance coverage and accident victims were specifically asked by Prebeck telemarketers who their insurance carriers were. (R170). Patients were specifically referred to Defendant by Prebeck, including Ponsoldt and Martin. (R171).

The trial court, by order of Circuit Court Judge Tobin, denied the Second Motion to Dismiss on January 13, 1998. (R206). Defendant thereafter entered a no contest plea to a lesser included offense, conspiracy to commit unlawful insurance solicitation, but reserved his right to appeal "motion to dismiss order denying same." (R207).

Defendant timely appealed the trial court's order denying his motion to dismiss based on the claim that §817.234(8), Fla. Stat., is unconstitutional. On appeal, Defendant challenged the statute as unconstitutional on two grounds: that the statute was unconstitutional as applied; and not sufficiently narrow to justify legitimate restriction of commercial free speech in contravention to the First Amendment to the United States Constitution.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal issued its opinion in this case on May 31, 2000: <u>Hansbrough v. State</u>, ____ So.2d ____, 25 Fla.

L. Weekly D1329 (Fla. 4th DCA May 31, 2000). The court acknowledged that this same issue of the constitutionality of §817.234(8) had previously been addressed in Barr v. State, 731 So. 2d 126 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999) and is constitutional. Id. The court further noted that Bradford v. State, 740 So. 2d 569 rev granted, No. SC 96,910 (Fla. February 25, 2000) followed Barr, but noted that certain language in Bradford explaining that an "intent to defraud" was required under the statute, was dicta and not controlling. Hansbrough v. State, supra.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal did, however, certify the following two questions to this Court for review as follows:

- (1) WHETHER SECTION 817.234(8), FLORIDA STATUTES, INCLUDES A REQUIREMENT OF SPECIFIC INTENT TO DEFRAUD THE INSURER; AND IF NOT,
- (2) WHETHER THE STATUTE ADVANCES THE GOVERNMENT INTEREST IN PREVENTING INSURANCE FRAUD AND IS NOT MORE EXTENSIVE THAN IS NECESSARY TO SERVE THAT INTEREST.

Judge Stone filed a special concurring opinion and noted that the statute is a strict liability crime and called for receding from the holding in Bradford, but concurred in the certified questions posed. This appeal ensued.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- I. WHETHER FRAUDULENT INTENT IS AN ELEMENT OF SECTION 817.234(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997)?
- II. WHETHER THE AFORESAID STATUTE IS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL RESTRICTION OF COMMERCIAL SPEECH UNDER THE FIRST AMENDMENT?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Fraud is not an element of Florida's anti-solicitation statute, §817.234(8) Fla. Stat. (1997). Fraud is not an element of this section based on the plain language of the statute, the statutory construction, and the legislative history. Additionally, the lack of a fraudulent intent element does not run afoul of due process.

Absent the fraud element, the statute is a constitutional restriction of commercial speech and does not violate First Amendment protections. It is narrowly drawn and satisfies the test articulated by the United States Supreme Court relating to restrictions on commercial speech.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

INTENT TO DEFRAUD IS NOT AN ELEMENT OF FLORIDA'S ANTI-SOLICITATION STATUTE, \$817.234(8) FLA. STAT. (1997).

In the underlying opinion to this case, the Fourth District Court of Appeal retreated from its dicta in <u>Bradford</u> and noted that an intent to defraud was not an element of the anti-solicitation crime created by the legislature in §817.234(8). The court below noted that <u>Bradford</u> was an attempt to clarify why subsection (8) did not punish purely innocent activity, but further noted that the "clarification" was dicta and not controlling. <u>Hansbrough v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>. Because <u>Bradford</u> is currently pending before this Court, and relied upon by Defendant in his Initial Brief, the State will discuss why <u>Bradford</u> should not be controlling. It must be noted, of course, that the Fourth District Court of Appeal in <u>Hansbrough</u> has already implicitly receded from <u>Bradford</u>.

The Fourth District Court of Appeal improperly construed §817.234(8) Fla. Stat. (1997) in <u>Bradford</u> by inserting an element of fraud that is not required by the plain meaning of the statute. Even if the statute is ambiguous, any reasonable construction of the statute does not require a fraud element. Additionally, a review of the legislative history clearly indicates that the legislature did not intend for the crimes created in this section to contain any element of fraud.

- § 817.234 Fla. Stat. (1997) provides:
- 817.234. False and fraudulent insurance claims
- (1)(a) Any person who, with the intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer:
- 1. Presents or causes to be presented any written or oral statement as part of, or in support of, a claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy, knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim;
- 2. Prepares or makes any written or oral statement that is intended to be presented to any insurer in connection with, or in support of, any claim for payment or other benefit pursuant to an insurance policy, knowing that such statement contains any false, incomplete, or misleading information concerning any fact or thing material to such claim; or
- 3. Knowingly presents, causes to be presented, or prepares or makes with knowledge or belief that it will be presented to any insurer, purported insurer, servicing corporation, insurance broker, or insurance agent, or any employee or agent thereof, any false, incomplete, or misleading information or written or oral statement as part of, or in support of, an application for the issuance of, or the rating of, any insurance policy, or who conceals information concerning any fact material to such application commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (b) All claims and application forms shall contain a statement that is approved by the Department of Insurance that clearly states in substance the following: "Any person who knowingly and with intent to injure, defraud, or deceive any insurer files a statement of claim or an application containing any false, incomplete, or misleading information is guilty of a felony of the third degree." The changes in this paragraph relating to applications shall take effect on March 1, 1996.
 - (2) Any physician licensed under chapter 458,

osteopathic physician licensed under chapter 459, chiropractic physician licensed under chapter 460, or other practitioner licensed under the laws of this state who knowingly and willfully assists, conspires with, or urges any insured party to fraudulently violate any of the provisions of this section or part XI of chapter 627, or any person who, due to such assistance, conspiracy, or urging by said physician, osteopathic physician, chiropractic physician, or practitioner, knowingly and willfully benefits from the proceeds derived from the use of such fraud, is guilty of a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. In the event that a physician, osteopathic 775.084. physician, chiropractic physician, or practitioner is adjudicated guilty of a violation of this section, the Board of Medicine as set forth in chapter 458, the Board of Osteopathic Medicine as set forth in chapter 459, the Board of Chiropractic Medicine as set forth in chapter 460, or other appropriate licensing authority shall hold an administrative hearing to consider the imposition of administrative sanctions as provided by law against said physician, osteopathic physician, chiropractic physician, or practitioner.

- (3) Any attorney who knowingly and willfully assists, conspires with, or urges any claimant to fraudulently violate any of the provisions of this section or part XI of chapter 627, or any person who, due to such assistance, conspiracy, or urging on such attorney's part, knowingly and willfully benefits from the proceeds derived from the use of such fraud, commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084.
- (4) No person or governmental unit licensed under chapter 395 to maintain or operate a hospital, and no administrator or employee of any such hospital, shall knowingly and willfully allow the use of the facilities of said hospital by an insured party in a scheme or conspiracy to fraudulently violate any of the provisions of this section or part XI of chapter 627. Any hospital administrator or employee who violates this subsection commits a felony of the third degree, punishable as provided in s. 775.082, s. 775.083, or s. 775.084. Any adjudication of guilt for a violation of this subsection, or the use of business practices demonstrating a pattern indicating that the spirit of the law set forth in this section or part XI of chapter 627 is not being followed,

shall be grounds for suspension or revocation of the license to operate the hospital or the imposition of an administrative penalty of up to \$5,000 by the licensing agency, as set forth in chapter 395.

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